IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Aug 04 2025
03:39PM EDT
Transaction ID 76786714

LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,

v.

No. 24-363

BRIAN W. BAILEY,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD

Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti [Bar No. 8806]
Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
rfcipoletti@wvdc.org
Kristin P. Halkias [Bar No. 7167]
Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
khalkias@wvdc.org
Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
West Virginia Judicial Tower, Suite 1200
4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE
Charleston, West Virginia 25304
(304) 558-7999
(304) 558-4015 – *facsimile*

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of Proceedings and Recommendation of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee

Formal charges were filed against Brian W. Bailey with the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Appeals on or about June 27, 2024, and served upon Respondent via certified mail by the Clerk on July 1, 2024. Disciplinary Counsel filed her mandatory discovery on or about July 22, 2024. Respondent requested and was granted a ten (10) day extension to file his Answer to Statement of Charges, and same was filed on or about August 10, 2024. Respondent failed to file his mandatory discovery. Disciplinary Counsel filed a Motion to Exclude Testimony of Witnesses And/or Documentary Evidence or Testimony of Mitigating Factors, and a Motion to Allow Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel's Witnesses to Testify by Telephone or Video/TEAMS or In Person Per the Witnesses' Discretion on November 20, 2024. The Hearing Panel Subcommittee ("HPS") granted both motions at the telephonic prehearing held on December 30, 2024.

Thereafter, this matter proceeded to hearing at the Offices of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel ("ODC"), in Charleston, West Virginia, on January 14, 2025. The HPS was comprised of David A. Wandling, Esquire, Chairperson; Chip E. Williams, Esquire; and Cynthia Tawney, Layperson. Kristin P. Halkias, Disciplinary Counsel, appeared on behalf of the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel. Brian W. Bailey, Respondent, appeared *pro se*. The Hearing Panel Subcommittee heard testimony from Roger K. Stobart, Tesla Lewis, Jacqueline Campbell, Clifford Ellis, Jr., and Respondent. In addition, ODC Exhibits 1-89 and Joint Exhibit 1 were admitted into evidence.

On or about May 5, 2025, the HPS issued its recommendation in this matter and filed with the Supreme Court its Report of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee ("Report"). The HPS

properly found that the evidence established Respondent knowingly committed multiple violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct (“Rules”), including misappropriating client funds, and that his casual disregard for his clients’ desires and objectives calls into question his ability to properly and safely represent clients. The HPS recommended that Respondent’s license to practice law be annulled; that Respondent make restitution to Clifford Ellis, Jr. in the amount of \$2,250.00; that Respondent comply with the mandates of Rule 3.28 of the Rules; and that Respondent be ordered to pay the costs of the disciplinary procedure pursuant to Rule 3.15 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure.

Disciplinary Counsel consented to the Report on May 13, 2025, and Respondent filed an untimely objection to the recommendation of the HPS on June 5, 2025. On June 6, 2025, Respondent filed a Motion to file out of time, and the Court granted said motion by Order issued June 13, 2025.

B. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee

Brian Wayne Bailey, (“Respondent”) is a lawyer practicing in Buckhannon, West Virginia, located in Upshur County, West Virginia. Respondent, having passed the Bar Exam, was admitted to The West Virginia State Bar on January 12, 2005. As such, Respondent is subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia and its properly constituted Lawyer Disciplinary Board. Respondent is a sole practitioner who also works as a mental hygiene commissioner in Lewis and Upshur counties. He employs a legal assistant, Heather Queen (“Ms. Queen”). [Hrg. Tr. at 205, 207].

COUNT I
I.D. No. 22-05-046
Complaint of Tesla Lewis

Complainant Tesla Lewis (“Ms. Lewis”) retained Respondent in 2019 to contest the validity of the will of Ms. Lewis’ longtime friend, Stephen Casto (“Mr. Casto”), who passed in July 2019.¹ In November 2018, Mr. Casto appointed Ms. Lewis as his durable and medical power of attorney and executed a will naming Ms. Lewis as the sole beneficiary of his estate. Unbeknownst to Ms. Lewis, two days prior to his death in 2019, Mr. Casto executed a new will at the prompting of his neighbors leaving his estate to them. Ms. Lewis said that on the same day he signed the new will, a hospice nurse had determined Mr. Casto was not competent to sign documents for hospice care, and she had asked Ms. Lewis, as Mr. Casto’s power of attorney, to sign the hospice documents. Ms. Lewis noticed significant discrepancies in Mr. Casto’s signatures between November and July, and there was documentation in his hospice records about his competency, or lack thereof. [ODC Ex. 4; Hrg. Tr. at 45]. Ms. Lewis quickly sought Respondent’s legal assistance, making it clear to him that time was of the essence because there were many animals on the farm in urgent need of food, water, and care. [Hrg. Tr. at 56-58].

At the start of his representation of Ms. Lewis, Respondent failed to execute a written fee agreement or discuss his hourly rate with her, and Ms. Queen, Respondent’s secretary, advised Ms. Lewis to pay in cash. [ODC 60 at 1013; Hrg. Tr. at 48]. Ms. Lewis paid Respondent at least \$2,300.00 in cash for his representation, and Respondent filed the Petition to Contest Validity of a Will in Upshur County Circuit on February 25, 2020, Case Number 20-C-19.² [ODC Ex. 1 at 15; Respondent’s Answer #46]. Respondent failed to deposit Ms. Lewis’ payments into his IOLTA account. [ODC Ex. 87].

¹ Ms. Lewis and Mr. Casto developed a grandfather/granddaughter relationship dating back to her elementary school days bonded by their shared love of animals and farm life. Together, they raised and cared for many animals on his property and were very close. Mr. Casto was not married and had no children, and Ms. Lewis, who is a registered nurse, significantly assisted Mr. Casto in his personal and medical care. [ODC Ex. 4].

² Ms. Lewis paid Respondent \$200.00 for her filing fee to the Upshur County Circuit Clerk on July 30, 2019; a \$1,000.00 retainer fee paid in two payments, \$250.00 on July 30, 2019, and \$750.00 on August 9, 2019; \$100.00 on

Two of the four respondents in Ms. Lewis' lawsuit retained William O'Brien ("Mr. O'Brien"), an attorney with Steptoe and Johnson, who filed an answer on June 2, 2020. The remaining two respondents failed to file an answer in the civil action, and Respondent did not file a Motion for Default Judgment in response. [ODC Ex. 1 at 15; Respondent's Answer].

Throughout Ms. Lewis' representation, Respondent "never called or texted [Ms. Lewis] personally", and all "communication with his office was through his secretary, other than speaking to him at the previous hearings," with the main form of communication being texting Ms. Queen.³ [ODC Ex. 1 at 12; Hrg. Tr. at 52].

On August 2, 2019, shortly after retaining Respondent, Respondent was provided with a list of potential witnesses and people with information about the case, including a hospice nurse who declared Mr. Casto not competent when the will was signed. [ODC Ex. 1 at 43]. However, Respondent never contacted a single witness on the list, never sought or obtained Mr. Casto's medical or hospice records, never conducted an investigation into the matter, and never advised Ms. Lewis of his failure to do so. [Hrg. Tr. at 88-91, 231].

As the case was languishing, Ms. Lewis texted Ms. Queen several times from May 2020 until December 2020 inquiring about a date for the scheduling conference and status updates, with Ms. Queen providing a variety of excuses. The scheduling conference was ultimately scheduled when Ms. Lewis' aunt, Jackie Campbell ("Ms. Campbell"), who works for another lawyer in the area, contacted the court and asked that a scheduling conference be scheduled, which was promptly set for January 12, 2021.⁴ [ODC Ex. 1; Hrg. Tr. at 55].

January 18, 2020; \$100.00 toward her new filing and the retainer on the second filing; \$250.00 on February 10, 2020; and \$650.00 on March 6, 2020. The August 9, 2019 invoice notes "retainer paid in full". [ODC Ex. 1 at 15].

³ Ms. Lewis testified that no one answered Respondent's phone when she called, that she stopped by the office "quite a few different times" but the office door was always locked. [Hrg. Tr. at 53, 57-58].

⁴ Ms. Lewis was inexperienced with the law and relied on her aunt for guidance and support. [Hrg. Tr. at 46].

A settlement offer of \$10,000.00 was made to Respondent, but he never personally notified Ms. Lewis of the offer, never discussed with her the advantages and disadvantages of accepting or declining the offer, and never discussed with her any demands or counter offers they should make. [Hrg. Tr. at 59, 61].

On June 1, 2021, Mr. O'Brien filed Combined Discovery and Requests for Admissions to Petitioner, but Respondent failed to notify or discuss said discovery with Ms. Lewis and failed to submit responses thereto. Ms. Queen provided incorrect information to Ms. Campbell and Ms. Lewis regarding discovery in a July 7, 2021 email when she said "[d]iscovery was provided to O'Brien months ago—we have not heard a word from any of them for months", when discovery had neither been provided nor answered.⁵ [ODC Ex. 1 at 22; Hrg. Tr. at 116-117].

On August 19, 2021, Mr. O'Brien filed a "Motion for Summary Judgment" against Ms. Lewis, which Respondent failed to personally discuss with his client, or even notify her of its filing.⁶ [ODC Ex. 1 at 15; Hrg. Tr. at 70]. In an email response to Ms. Campbell on September 21, 2021, Respondent first mentioned the pending Motion for Summary Judgment and said a "hearing is set for around the end of October on it...[h]ave Tesla contact us for more information. [ODC Ex. 1 at 41]. Ms. Lewis promptly contacted Respondent's office but was unable to reach him. [Hrg. Tr. at 69-70]. Respondent never contacted Ms. Lewis regarding the summary judgment motion, nor did he provide her with a copy of the Response he filed thereto. [Hrg. Tr. at 66-67]. Ms. Campbell testified that she was not concerned about the motion because she had relied on Ms. Queen's misrepresentation that discovery had been sent, that she knew

⁵ Ms. Lewis only became aware of Respondent's failure to respond to discovery in December 2021 after her case had been dismissed and she obtained a copy of her case file. [ODC Ex. 1 at 15, 51; Hrg. Tr. at 63].

⁶ Ms. Campbell emailed Respondent on August 30, 2021, inquiring about a status update. Respondent responded the same day and did not mention the pending Motion for Summary Judgment. Ms. Campbell asked Respondent to send a copy of the discovery to Ms. Lewis, which never happened. [ODC Ex. 1 at 23]. Ms. Campbell again emailed Respondent on September 23, 2021, asking for a status update, noting the mediation deadline of September 30,

“the other party had an expensive attorney”, and she believed they were “doing motions just to make it look good”.⁷ [Hrg. Tr. at 117].

Respondent filed a “Response in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment” on October 7, 2021, which he did not share with Ms. Lewis. [ODC Ex. 1 at 15]. A hearing was set for October 25, 2021, but Respondent failed to notify Ms. Lewis of the date and time of the hearing or advise that she should attend. [Hrg. Tr. 70-72] Consequently, Ms. Lewis was not present at the October 25, 2021 hearing, and the Court questioned her whereabouts on the record. [ODC Ex. 1 at 47]. Respondent answered that he was “not sure” why she was not there, despite knowing he had not informed Ms. Lewis of the hearing or its significance, and that she most assuredly would have been there had she been made aware. [ODC Ex. 1 at 62; Hrg Tr at 71-72]. The Court specifically asked, “Why is she not here today?”, to which Respondent answered, “Your Honor, I’m not sure, with respect to that”.⁸ [ODC Ex. 1 at 63]. Before the HPS, Ms. Lewis confirmed that she did not attend the hearing because she had not been provided notice by Respondent, and that she would have liked to attend the hearing and discuss the motion with Respondent prior to the hearing. [Hrg. Tr. at 70-72].

During the summary judgment hearing, Judge Hall said he was curious about the medical experts and witnesses, and he asked Respondent if any of the witnesses would say Mr. Casto was

2021. Respondent responded the same day, advising that the mediation deadline had been extended by mutual agreement until the end of November 2021. [ODC Ex. 1 at 41].

⁷ Ms. Campbell said she would have “definitely” been scared and worried if she had known Respondent had failed to respond to discovery. [Hrg. Tr. at 117].

⁸ Respondent added “it is not my perception that... Ms. Lewis has abandoned the case. I’ve certainly been in touch with her...I guess, her aunt, who works at a local law office over here, follows up with—me about it.” [ODC Ex. 1 at 63].

confused. Respondent answered, “I’m gathering that they will...” Judge Hall said, “the sound of it is, you don’t even know that.”⁹ [ODC. Ex. 1 at 61].

The Court advised Respondent that the “interrogatories that weren’t answered...that’s problematic...the Court is likely to deem those as admitted, by operation...they haven’t been answered”, and “that’s going to have operation of law...that’s going to be problematic to your case”. [ODC Ex. 1 at 62-68]. The Court further advised that “this is a dispositive motion, and this is the time to present it to the court...”, that the only argument around Respondent’s failure to answer discovery would be to show good cause, and that “the Court’s not heard any indication that they weren’t responded to for good cause.”¹⁰ [Id.]

On November 17, 2021, the judge granted the respondents’ Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed Ms. Lewis’ case, but Respondent failed to notify Ms. Lewis of the outcome or advise her of her appeal rights. [ODC Ex. 60 at 1051-54, 1060-61; Hrg. Tr. at 72, 94]. It was not until December 14, 2021 when Ms. Lewis discovered that a hearing had been held on October 25, 2021 in her case without her knowledge or attendance, and she had just a few days to file an appeal. [Hrg. Tr. at 122]. Ms. Lewis quickly scrambled to find new counsel to prepare a notice of appeal despite her new counsel’s acknowledgement that her chances of winning were very slim given Respondent’s lack of timely responses, notices and discovery.¹¹ [Hrg. Tr. at 72, 122].

In his response, Respondent said that Ms. Lewis’ case was a complicated one in which he appeared for multiple court appearances, “despite being paid the sum of one thousand dollars

⁹ Mr. O’Brien argued to the Court, “[t]here’s been no evidence presented from any medical person, Nurse or doctor, or any facility. There’s no evidence of that in the record. That’s why we’re here on summary judgement, Your Honor”. [ODC Ex. 1 at 65].

¹⁰ During the investigation herein, Respondent acknowledged that he believed Ms. Lewis would have attended the hearing had she been advised of it, and that her presence at the hearing might have impacted the outcome of the summary judgment motion. [ODC Ex. 60 at 1056-59].

¹¹ Retaining the services of another lawyer cost \$1,700.00 in addition to the \$2,300.00 already paid to Respondent. [Hrg. Tr. at 127]. By Memorandum Decision filed January 18, 2023, this Honorable Court found that petitioner had

(\$1,000) for 2 ½ years of work”. [ODC Ex. 3 at 76]. Respondent never discussed the size of the estate with Ms. Lewis, and never obtained an appraisal to determine property value, yet claimed the estate was not large.¹² [Id.; Hrg. Tr. at 49, 231]. Respondent never personally initiated contact or communication with Ms. Lewis during his representation and never shared his concerns with Ms. Lewis that there was a “mismatch in resources”. [Hrg. Tr. at 58]. Ms. Lewis testified that she would have “[m]ost definitely” liked to know Respondent’s concerns during her representation to provide her the opportunity to retain alternative counsel. [ODC Ex. 4 at 87; Hrg. Tr. at 62].

In his answer to the complaint, Respondent said that his not responding to requests for admission was “immaterial” because he would have to admit them all, although in his Answer to the Charges herein he admitted that at least one request would have merited a denial. Ms. Lewis believed several should have been denied, as that was the basis of her claim. [ODC Ex. 3 at 77; Respondent’s Answer #9]. By letter dated December 14, 2022 and follow-up dated January 12, 2023, ODC provided Respondent with a copy of Ms. Lewis’ reply and requested his response pursuant to Rule 2.5 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure and 8.1(b) of the Rules, but Respondent did not respond.¹³ [ODC Ex. 5 & 6].

Per the January 14, 2019 bank statement, Respondent’s IOLTA account had a balance of \$1,239.92.¹⁴ [ODC Ex. 87 at 1488]. No deposits or withdrawals were made to Respondent’s

not submitted evidence below of coercion and affirmed the circuit court’s granting of summary judgment. [ODC Ex. 8 at 172].

¹² Ms. Campbell said the estate was in excess of 146 acres with a value over \$600,000.00. [Hrg. Tr. at 49, 123].

¹³ By letter dated February 27, 2023, ODC provided Respondent with copies of Ms. Lewis’ most recent correspondence and asked that he provide the following documents to ODC: a response to Ms. Lewis’ correspondence; a copy of their fee agreement; and a copy of his billing invoices which show the hours billed and amounts paid by Ms. Lewis. [ODC Ex. 10]. ODC again requested this information by letter dated April 3, 2023, and Respondent failed to provide the documents. He did send correspondence noting that “it was highly unlikely in retrospect...that [Ms. Lewis] would have prevailed in this case”, which he never shared with Ms. Lewis during her representation. [ODC Ex. 11 & 13].

¹⁴ Respondent’s IOLTA account is maintained at Citizens Bank of Weston, account number 358692; his IOLTA account records from January 2019 through July 2023 were obtained pursuant to a subpoena duces tecum issued by

IOLTA account until a withdrawal of \$1,200.00 was made by Respondent on January 14, 2020, leaving a balance of \$39.81, which was reflected in the February 13, 2020 bank statement.¹⁵ [ODC Ex. 87 at 1488-1512]. Beginning with the March 13, 2020 bank statement, Respondent's IOLTA account carried the same balance of \$39.81 until July 13, 2023, which was the last statement provided by Citizens Bank pursuant to the investigative subpoena. [ODC Ex. 87 at 1515-1555].

Respondent never deposited Ms. Lewis' payments into his IOLTA account and admitted at his June 14, 2023 sworn statement that he did not use his IOLTA account "other than to keep it active, as is required". [ODC Ex. 60 at 1012]. He testified that if a client paid him a retainer, he would "put it into my business account, typically." [ODC Ex. 60 at 1012]. Respondent testified that he does not keep track of billable hours in his retained cases, that he gets the money up front, and does not send out billing invoices. [ODC Ex. 60 at 1011-1016]. Respondent testified that he does not typically execute fee agreements with his clients, and that he did not execute a fee agreement with Ms. Lewis. [ODC Ex. 60 at 1012-13;1015-16; 1044-45].

Because Respondent failed to file necessary motions in Ms. Lewis' case, failed to timely respond to discovery requests and requests for admissions, failed to investigate and develop the case, and failed to involve Ms. Lewis in the development of the matter to her detriment, Respondent has violated Rule 1.1 of the Rules.¹⁶

Because Respondent failed to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in his representation of Ms. Lewis in the underlying matter causing irreparable harm to Ms. Lewis, he has violated Rule 1.3 of the Rules.¹⁷

the Supreme Court of Appeals on August 3, 2023. [ODC Ex. 85 at 1480; ODC Ex. 87].

¹⁵ There were de minimis adjustments to the account due to interest payments.

¹⁶ **Rule 1.1 Competence.** A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client. Competent representation requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for the representation.

¹⁷ **Rule 1.3 Diligence.** A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client.

Because Respondent failed to personally discuss with Ms. Lewis the settlement offer made by opposing counsel, as well as the advantages and disadvantages to settling to permit her to make an informed decision regarding settlement, failed to keep Ms. Lewis informed as to the status of her case, failed to respond to Ms. Lewis' attempts to communicate with him, and failed to notify her of her case being dismissed, Respondent violated Rules 1.4(a)(1)¹⁸, 1.4(a)(3) and 1.4(a)(4) of the Rules.¹⁹

Because Respondent failed to execute a written fee agreement memorializing the scope of the representation and the basis or rate of the fee and expenses, Respondent violated Rule 1.5(b) of the Rules.²⁰

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