# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

LAWYER DISCIPLIN			SCA EFiled: Sep 17 2025 03:48PM EDT
	Petitioner,		Transaction ID 77100631
VS.		No	. 24-363
BRIAN W. BAILEY,			
	Respondent.		
	BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT		

Brian W. Bailey, Esq. 17 West Main Street Buckhannon, WV 26201 Phone: (304) 473-7460 bwbaileyesq@gmail.com

W.Va. State Bar ID #9816

# **

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

### II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Hearing Panel Subcommittee, after a one (1) day hearing wherein no evidence was adduced from your respondent other than hostile cross-examination from the ODC, and taking into no account any of my explanations or frankly giving me any opportunity to do so, found that I violated my duties to Ms. Lewis, Mr. Moats, Mr. Ellis, Mr. Stobart, and the profession, and that my actions caused actual harm. The Hearing Panel Subcommittee considered no mitigating factors or my cooperative posture. They Panel recommended annulment of my law license, restitution to Mr. Ellis, compliance with Rule 3.28 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, and payment of costs pursuant to Rule 3.15.

No account was taken of the fact that I offered evidence of personal difficulties related to health issues of Ms. Queen's late mother and late husband. No account was taken that I went from being one of three (3) mental hygiene commissioners in Lewis and Upshur Counties to the only one in the COVID year of 2020, which nearly tripled my work load at

that time. This occurred primarily due to the fact that Lewis County is where William R. Sharpe, Jr. Hospital is located, which necessitates a time intensive weekly workload of Final Commitment hearings, as Sharpe along with Bateman in Cabell County are the two (2) institutions in the State of West Virginia housing large numbers of long-term psychiatric in-patient respondents. The Panel ignored my relatively limited experience in civil litigation work, where I testified to handling about 20 cases over 20 years. Since the Ellis case, I no longer practice any civil litigation. My limited disciplinary record was not factored in recommending what essentially amounts to the legal death penalty in recommending annulment of my law license, rather than some lesser penalty, such as supervised practice, an admonishment, or even a suspension rather than simply disbarring me.

It is from this judgment which the instant appeal follows.

## III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This Honorable Court has noted in its Order of June 13, 2025, that the Clerk of the Court will provide at a later date a "Notice of Argument" under Rule 19(b).

#### IV. ARGUMENT

The standard of review for appeals from the Hearing Panel Subcommittee seems to be well-established law in West Virginia jurisprudence now. "A *de novo* standard applies to a review of the adjudicatory record made before the [Hearing Panel Subcommittee of the Lawyer Disciplinary Board ("HPS")] as to questions of law, questions of application of the law to the facts, and questions of appropriate sanctions; this Court gives respectful consideration to the [HPS's] recommendations while ultimately exercising its own independent judgment. On the other hand, substantial deference is given to the

[HPS's] findings of fact, unless such findings are not supported by reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record." Syllabus point 1, *Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Curnette*, No. 23-746 (W.Va. 2025); Syllabus point 3, *Committee on Legal Ethics v. McCorkle*, 192 W.Va. 286, 452 S.E. 2d 377 (W.Va. 1994); Syllabus point 1, *Law. Disciplinary Bd. v. Cain*, 245 W.Va. 693, 865 S.E. 2d, 95 (W.Va. 2021).

# A. The Findings of the HPS were not supported in their entirety by reliable, probative, and substantial evidence.

In the case at hand, your respondent entered into certain admissions that were incorporated by reference by the Hearing Panel Subcommittee. The Office of Disciplinary Counsel prepared stipulations days before the actual hearing itself on January 14, 2025, giving your respondent little time to vet the accuracy of the stipulations. Taking it on good faith that the stipulations merely reflected what was agreed to by the parties, and after a fairly cursory review of the stipulations due to necessary time constraints, your respondent agreed to go along with the stipulations.

In fact, included in these stipulations were allegations of substantial overpayment by Mr. Ellis to the respondent. Counsel adamantly denies this, as Mr. Ellis would write a money order, which would be followed up days later by a receipt either by email or mail; in some instances, both from Ms. Queen. In other words, his statements are effectively double counted in his accounting. To the contrary, your respondent would assert that during his nearly five (5) year representation of Mr. Ellis in this property dispute, if anything, the respondent was substantially underpaid. It is not the practice of the respondent to keep demanding working people's money; in fact, I find it one of the most

disagreeable tasks of being an attorney is to keep hitting people up for more money. This certainly does not excuse subpar accounting practices, which have since been remedied.

I deferred to the good faith of the Office of Disciplinary Counsel that the agreed stipulations were things that were actually agreed to between the Statement of Charges and your respondent's answer.

Furthermore, at the hearing held on January 14, 2025, the hearing began around 10:00 A.M. in the morning, and then lasted for the rest of the day, with the Office of Disciplinary Counsel running the entire show, including calling your respondent as a witness. At the end of the respondent's testimony, rather than be given an opportunity to explain the issues at hand, instead, the individual members of the subcommittee took the opportunity to lecture your respondent, rather than hearing any type of defense, or even being given the opportunity to put on mitigating factors which should have been considered.

In short, as the entire process was effectively one sided from the beginning until the end, your respondent respectfully prays that the Honorable Court reexamine the entirety of the evidence, and actually consider what your respondent has to say, rather than simply rubber-stamp the findings of the one-sided hearing. Indeed, as noted in the Petitioner's brief, it has been stated that: "The Supreme Court of Appeals is the final arbiter of formal legal ethic charges and must make the ultimate decision about public reprimands, suspensions or annulments of attorneys' license to practice law." Syl. Pt. 3, *Committee on Legal Ethics v. Blair*, 174 W.Va. 494, 327 S.E. 2d 671 (W.Va. 1984).

## B. Analysis under Rule 3.16 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure

Rule 3.16 of the Rules of Disciplinary Procedure provides that when imposing a sanction after a finding of lawyer misconduct, the Court shall consider: (1) whether the lawyer has violated a duty owed to a client, to the public, to the legal system, or to the profession; (2) whether the lawyer acted intentionally, knowingly, or negligently; (3) the amount of actual or potential injury caused by the lawyer's misconduct; and (4) the existence of any aggravating or mitigating factors." Syl. Pt. 4 of Office of Disciplinary Counsel v. Jordan, 204 W.Va. 495, 513 S.E. 2d 722 (W.Va. 1998).

Your respondent acknowledges fault, as set forth in the agreed stipulations, but respectfully asserts that errors were made due to negligence; the amount of actual injury was de minimus; and that the existence of mitigating factors was not even considered below. Therefore, your respondent respectfully disagrees with the gravity of the sanction sought by the Office of Disciplinary Counsel.

The four factors shall be examined going forth.

1. Respondent violated duties he owed to a third party, the public, to the legal system, and to the profession.

With respect to the issue of the IOLTA account, I have acknowledged my fault in this regard. As set forth during the proceedings below, the main reason I set up an IOLTA account was that the State Bar had an expectation that I do so. The fact of the matter is, 95% of my work has always been court-appointed. As noted, my civil experience was fairly limited. I wholeheartedly disagree that I misappropriated money from Mr. Ellis in the charges listed, as set forth above. To the contrary, I worked on his case for approximately five (5) years.

Since these charges were brought, during the couple of retained cases I have

accepted, my client's money has thus been deposited into the IOLTA account. I have done so pursuant to the advice of the Office of Disciplinary Counsel.

With respect to the failure to communicate with Mr. Ellis, it is true that my assistant Ms. Queen had a lot of the communications with him and Ms. Hurley, including on nights and weekends. With respect to the flawed deed, the Circuit Court itself exclaimed during the hearing complained of that "this is a scrivener's error" with respect to the 5/8' or the 5/8'. After once successfully getting a "Motion for Contempt and Sanctions" withdrawn against Mr. Ellis by the opposing counsel, Mr. Tissue sought a second motion, but this was after Mr. Ellis had filed a Complaint with the Office of Disciplinary Counsel. I admit with 20-20 hindsight that the better practice would have been to file a "Motion to Withdraw as Counsel." However, I would plead in mitigation that I have personally witnessed other counsel decline to address the Court after someone has filed an ethics complaint against them, so this was the course of action I chose to proceed with. At the end of the day, the Court from the bench changed the deed, and upon fulfillment of what was a court-imposed settlement, the Court dismissed the matter of sanctions.

In the case of Tesla Lewis, I again admit that my assistant handled most of the day to day discussions with her. Respectfully, as noted in my answer to the Statement of Charges, that contact was frequent and ongoing, and should not be construed as a failure to keep the client informed of substantive matters. Anything which Ms. Queen shared with Ms. Lewis had my imprimatur, which is my general practice, as she is my paralegal and my agent. I do admit that as a result of Ms. Queen's mother and her husband's health concerns, she was out of the office a good bit in 2021 and 2022. However, she still

maintained communication with clients, when there was something to communicate, and certainly remained in contact with me. A significant amount of work was done on her case from the very beginning; but at the end of the day, her case amounted to a will contest. It is a very tough road to hoe to determine the intent of a decedent who is not around to testify. I still believe she may have had a case of undue influence, but once the Court granted summary judgment, any ability to either mediate the case or to try it became an impossibility. Unfortunately, the hospice nurse who could have helped with the argument of undue influence would not cooperate with my investigation, and would only testify if required by a subpoena. At the end of the day, we never made it to that point in time.

With respect to Mr. Stobart, I admit that I did not respond to a letter he sent; and that I was late in getting the entirety of his file to him; but I would note that I sent him his appeal when it was filed, and sent him the results thereof after I finally received an Order from the Supreme Court of Appeals denying his appeal.

With respect to the entirety of his file, he already had almost every pleading at the time when I filed his appeal. The entire case file was sent to him shortly after the hearing with Panel. As of this pleading, I am awaiting the inevitable ineffective assistance of counsel allegations once he files his Writ of Habeas Corpus. In my (much more extensive) criminal case experience, this is usually the price to be paid upon the loss of a trial and an appeal, which is followed by a lengthy sentence. As noted, Mr. Stobart is still serving this sentence, and will be for several years to come, as the numerous issues of identify theft of Larry Lusk resulted in the Court imposing a long sentence.

Regarding Robert Moats, I also admit that I failed to timely file a "Motion for

Reconsideration of Sentence." At the time of the preparation of this pleading, it is believed that Mr. Moats is still serving his criminal sentence. During my representation of him, Mr. Moats was fairly cooperative with me, other than sending inappropriate messages to my assistant Ms. Queen, and his changing of payment arrangements.

Mr. Moats clearly confessed wherein the statement provided to the police officer was made after his *Miranda* rights were read to him; thus it remains my belief to this day that the plea he entered was in his best interests and was his best course of action. A trial would almost certainly have resulted in a much longer sentence. At the end of the day, we were subject to the mercy of the Court.

With respect to the allegations that I gave courts incorrect information to protect myself at my client's expense, I categorically reject that allegation. I did respond to the Court that it was not my perception that Ms. Lewis has abandoned her case, because in fact her aunt Ms. Campbell had reached out to me about her case. I do not lie to a Court of law; I never have, and I never would. I give the most precise answer to questions raised of me, as I always have.

I certainly agree that I rely to a heavy degree on my sole assistant and paralegal, Ms. Queen, and it is most unfortunate that she was unable to testify about these matters of which she had firsthand information to the Hearing Panel Subcommittee. I believe that a lot of the allegations of failing to communicate could have been rebutted, had she been allowed to do so. However, I would note that every action she takes is communicated to me, and she effectively helps my office function normally. I am not sure how other solo practitioner's do it without any assistance; I can only surmise it is because they only take

appointed cases, based upon my experience. However, even with just court-appointed cases, her assistance is necessary, as of course I have court-proceedings on nearly every business day. Upon my information and belief, I recall hearing at a conference that twenty (20) percent of the attorney's practicing in West Virginia were doing eighty (80) percent of the courtroom work. I am certainly included within that 20 percent.

So far as responding to and cooperating with the Office of Disciplinary Counsel goes, I submit that I timely responded to every letter that I actually received from them. It would certainly have *not* been in my best interests to ignore them, obviously, and therefore, I reject the allegations that I have not been fully cooperative with them. If I received a complaint, I answered it. I appeared to give a Sworn Statement, as requested by subpoena. I answered the Statement of Charges, and even worked with the ODC to formulate agreed stipulations. As noted above, I only received these a few days prior to the hearing of January 14, 2025, but nevertheless, in an attempt to continue to maintain my cooperative posture, I agreed to them, which was obviously to my detriment with some of the charges.

I admit that I violated the Rules of Professional Conduct, during what was an extremely rough period of time. I deeply regret and wake up daily regretting these mistakes. One cannot even begin to quantify the amount of sleep lost over these matters, both with respect to the cases themselves, and to the consequences ensuing from them. However, I respectfully reject many of the allegations, as set forth above and below.

2. Respondent acted "Negligently," not "Knowingly" nor "Intentionally" on the majority of the substantive violations

The Office of Disciplinary Counsel lists a significant number of violations of the Rules of Professional Responsibility in their brief, and suggests that pursuant to Rule 1.0(f), a person's knowledge can be inferred from the circumstances. They go on to suggest that instead of evidence of knowing violations of the rules, instead, they draw the negative inference that there is no evidence to suggest that I did not act knowingly.

Accordingly, as set forth in *Office of Disciplinary Counsel v. Jordan*, 204 W.Va. 495, 513 S.E. 2d 722 (W.Va. 1998), the Court is required to make a determination as to whether the attorney acted intentionally, knowingly, or negligently in ascertaining the level of discipline to be attributed to an attorney. The Court has acknowledged a hierarchy of culpability as pertains to the mental state of the attorney, as previously set forth in *Law. Disciplinary Board v. Blyler*:

"[t]he American Bar Association Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions instruct that the most culpable mental state is that of intent, which consists of conduct by the lawyer with a conscious objective or purpose to achieve a particular result. The next most culpable mental state is that of knowledge when there are acts by the lawyer with the awareness of the nature of the acts or consequences of the conduct. However, with a state of knowledge there is no conscious effort to attain a particular result. The least culpable mental state is negligence, which involves a failure to be aware of substantial risks at issue."

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